Court File No. 01-CL-4313

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE -COMMERCIAL LIST

IN THE MATTER OF RELIANCE INSURANCE COMPANY

AND IN THE MATTER OF THE INSURANCE COMPANIES ACT, S.C. 1991, C.47, AS AMENDED

AND IN THE MATTER OF THE WINDING-UP AND RESTRUCTURING ACT, R.S.C. 1985, C.W-11, AS AMENDED

BETWEEN:

THE ATTORNEY GENERAL OF CANADA

Applicant

- and -

RELIANCE INSURANCE COMPANY

Respondent

REPORT OF KPMG INC., THE LIQUIDATOR OF RELIANCE INSURANCE COMPANY

December 2, 2002

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| ON' | TARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE -COMMERCIAL LIST | I |
|------|---|--------|
| I. | NATURE OF THE MOTION | 1 |
| II. | BACKGROUND | 1 |
| III. | CURRENT STATUS OF MARKETING PROGRAM | 3 |
| | Meridian TransactionPolicy Liabilities | 3 |
| IV. | EXTENSION OF DATE | 4 |
| | Meridian Payments Defense Costs and Policy Payments | 4 5 |
| V. | RECOMMENDATIONS | 6 |

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

COMMERCIAL LIST

IN THE MATTER OF RELIANCE INSURANCE COMPANY

AND IN THE MATTER OF THE INSURANCE COMPANIES ACT, S.C. 1991, C.47, AS AMENDED

AND IN THE MATTER OF THE WINDING-UP AND RESTRUCTURING ACT, R.S.C. 1985, C.W-11, AS AMENDED

BETWEEN:

THE ATTORNEY GENERAL OF CANADA

Applicant

- and -

RELIANCE INSURANCE COMPANY

Respondent

December 2, 2002

I. NATURE OF THE MOTION

1. This Report is respectfully filed in support of a motion by KPMG Inc., the liquidator (the "Liquidator") of Reliance (Canada) (as hereinafter defined) for an Order extending the date for Policy Payments, payment of Defense Costs and Meridian Payments (all as hereinafter defined) from December 31, 2002 to March 31, 2003 or such later date as this Court may order.

II. BACKGROUND

2. Reliance Insurance Company ("Reliance") is a property and casualty insurer in the United States of America, domiciled in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. Reliance carried on

business in Canada as a "foreign company" within the meaning of the *Insurance Companies Act* through a branch.

- 3. Reliance was ordered liquidated by Order of the Commonwealth Court of Pennsylvania dated October 3, 2001, under the Pennsylvania *Insurance Department Act of 1921*. M. Diane Koken, Commissioner of Insurance for Pennsylvania, was appointed liquidator (the "U.S. Liquidator").
- 4. By Order of this Court made December 3, 2001 (the "Winding-up Order"), the insurance business of Reliance in Canada ("Reliance (Canada)") was ordered wound-up pursuant to the provisions of the *Winding-up and Restructuring Act*. A copy of the Winding-up Order is attached as Schedule "A".
- 5. By further Order of this Court made December 3, 2001 (the "Appointment Order"), KPMG Inc. was appointed provisional liquidator. A copy of the Appointment Order is attached as Schedule "B".
- 6. The relevant provisions of the Appointment Order for the purposes of this motion are:
 - (a) paragraph 8 provides that the Liquidator may pay all valid policyholder claims, including claims in respect of unearned premiums, to the amount of \$25,000 or the amount of the coverage limits of the Property and Casualty Compensation Insurance Corporation ("PACICC") if any (the "Policy Payments"), until April 30, 2002 or such later date as the Court may order, subject to paragraph 9 of the Appointment Order, and that such payments are deemed to be payments made on account of claims in the liquidation;
 - (b) paragraph 9 provides that the Liquidator may pay all valid claims, including claims in respect of unearned premiums, under the Meridian Warranty program and other warranty and surety programs to the amount of \$5,000 or the PACICC coverage limits, if any (the "Meridian Payments"), until January 31, 2002 or such later date as the Court may order, and that such payments are deemed to be payments made on account of claims in the liquidation;

- (c) paragraph 11 provides that the Liquidator may pay and continue to pay all reasonable legal and other costs, incurred to and including April 30, 2002 that Reliance (Canada) is obligated to pay for defending any insureds against losses under Reliance (Canada)'s policies in accordance with the applicable policy, subject to the terms and limits of such policies (the "Defense Costs"); and
- (d) paragraph 30 provides that the Liquidator may, with the approval of this Court, arrange for the transfer or reinsurance of all or a portion of the policies of Reliance (Canada) or cancel all or a portion of the outstanding policies of Reliance (Canada).
- 7. By Order of this Court dated January 30, 2002, attached as Schedule "C", the date of January 31, 2002 with respect to Meridian Payments was extended to April 30, 2002. By further Orders of this Court dated April 29, 2002 and May 8, 2002, respectively, the date of April 30, 2002 with respect to Policy Payments, payment of Defense Costs and Meridian Payments (collectively, the "Payments") was extended first to May 6, 2002 and then to December 31, 2002. A copy of the Order dated May 8, 2002 extending the date for payments and approving the Meridian Transaction is attached as Schedule "D".

III. CURRENT STATUS OF MARKETING PROGRAM

8. Attached hereto as Schedule "E" is a copy of the Report of the Liquidator dated April 23, 2002 (the "Report"). The Report was filed in support of the Liquidator's application to extend the date for the Payments and to approve an agreement between the Liquidator and London Guarantee Insurance Company ("London Guarantee"), pursuant to which London Guarantee would assume Reliance (Canada)'s liabilities under the Meridian program (the "Meridian Transaction"). The Report also discusses the Liquidator's attempts to market the liabilities under the balance of the policies (the "Policy Liabilities"). This Court's reasons are attached as Schedule "F".

Meridian Transaction

9. The Liquidator had anticipated that the Meridian Transaction would close by September 30, 2002. However, it has not closed yet because certain reinsurers have not yet provided their

consent to the transaction as contemplated thereunder. The Liquidator has been working diligently with a reinsurance broker in London, where the reinsurers are located, to obtain the consents. If the consents are not granted, the Liquidator will consider all other options, including seeking the assistance of this Court. Notwithstanding this issue, the Liquidator remains optimistic that the Meridian transaction will ultimately close and is hopeful that this will occur no later than March 31, 2003.

Policy Liabilities

- 10. As also discussed in the Report, the Liquidator undertook a process of seeking qualified insurers to assume the Policy Liabilities in exchange for the transfer of assets. The Liquidator engaged Scotia Capital Inc. and KPMG Corporate Finance as co-advisers in this process. The U.S. Liquidator has been extensively involved in the process as well.
- 11. On November 21, 2002, the Liquidator entered into a memorandum of understanding with respect to a transaction that would result in the assumption by the purchaser of the Policy Liabilities at 100%. The purchaser stipulated that the terms of the memorandum, including the identity of the purchaser, are to be kept confidential at this time.
- 12. A number of steps must be taken before definitive agreements are signed. The Liquidator is optimistic that an agreement will be reached which will be capable of being completed, but expects that the timeframe will be at least similar to that required for the closing of the Meridian Transaction.

IV. EXTENSION OF DATE

Meridian Payments

- 13. The Liquidator is recommending that this Court extend the date to which the Liquidator may make Meridian Payments to March 31, 2003. The Liquidator makes this recommendation for the following reasons:
 - (a) It would be counterproductive to interrupt payments, assuming the Meridian Transaction closes. There would be significant costs both in communicating with the approximately 14,000 Meridian policyholders remaining to explain the

- interruption in the payment stream and with restarting payments after the transaction closes, which costs London Guarantee has not covenanted to pay; and
- (b) Even if the Meridian Transaction does not close, as discussed in the Report, there is no reasonable alternative to continue making the Meridian Payments in full because the administrative costs of reducing and adjusting the payments would more than offset any cost differential if the ultimate dividend rate were less than 100%.
- 14. The Liquidator is therefore of the view that it is in the best interest of the estate that the Meridian Payments continue to March 31, 2002.

Defense Costs and Policy Payments

- 15. The Liquidator considers it appropriate and in the best interest of the estate that Policy Payments and payment of Defense Costs should continue as at present until March 31, 2003 or such further date as this Court may order. The payment of Defense Costs facilitates the transaction to transfer the Policy Liabilities in that it eases any potential concerns of the purchaser with respect to the standards of claims adjudication. Further, payment of Defense Costs significantly reduces immediate hardship to policyholders.
- 16. The Liquidator is not recommending any change to the Policy Payments. The Liquidator remains confident that, whether a transaction is consummated or not, all valid claims against Reliance (Canada) will be paid in full. However, as discussed in the Report at paragraph 17, there is a concern that claims not currently reported on the books of Reliance (Canada) may be found at law to be entitled to claim in the Canadian liquidation. Pending resolution of this concern the Liquidator is of the view that the present Policy Payment level balances the interests of all parties. The Liquidator is proposing that the Policy Payments continue on the same basis until March 31, 2003 or such later date as this Court may order.
- 17. The Liquidator has chosen the date of March 31, 2003 for the Policy Payments and payment of Defense Costs not because it believes the transaction to transfer the Policy Liabilities will be completed by that time, but because it is confident that it will know whether a transaction will be completed and will therefore be in a position to report back to this Court on the progress

of the transaction or, in the alternative, or a plan for the rest of the liquidation should it appear that the transaction will not go forward.

V. RECOMMENDATIONS

18. The Liquidator therefore recommends that this Court make an order extending the date for Policy Payments, payment of Defense Costs and Meridian Payments from December 31, 2002 to March 31, 2003 or such later date as this Court may order.

ALL OF WHICH IS RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED

KPMG INC., solely in its capacity as the Liquidator of Reliance Insurance Company - Canadian Branch

Robert O. Sanderson, President

G26\RUBENSTG\4462733.7



ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE COMMERCIAL LIST

| THE HONOURABLE |) | MONDAY THE 3 RD DAY |
|--------------------|---|--------------------------------|
| MR. JUSTICE FARLEY |) | OF DECEMBER, 2001 |
| |) | |
| |) | |

IN THE MATTER OF RELIANCE INSURANCE COMPANY

AND IN THE MATTER OF THE INSURANCE COMPANIES ACT, S.C. 1991, C.47, AS AMENDED

AND IN THE MATTER OF THE WINDING-UP AND RESTRUCTURING ACT, R.S.C. 1985, C.W-11, AS AMENDED

BETWEEN:

THE ATTORNEY GENERAL OF CANADA

Applicant

- and -

RELIANCE INSURANCE COMPANY

Respondent

WINDING-UP ORDER

THIS APPLICATION made by the Applicant was heard this day without a jury at Toronto, in the presence of counsel for the Applicant, for the Respondent, for KPMG Inc., and for the Property and Casualty Insurance Compensation Corporation ("PACICC"), no one opposing.

ON READING the Notice of Application and the evidence filed by the parties, and on hearing submissions of counsel for the parties

- 1. THIS COURT ORDERS AND DECLARES that the Respondent Reliance Insurance Company is a foreign insurance company within the meaning of the *Insurance Companies Act* to which the *Winding-up and Restructuring Act* applies, and that the insurance business in Canada of the Respondent ("Reliance (Canada)") may be wound-up by this Court. pursuant to Section 10.1 of the *Winding-up and Restructuring Act*.
- 2. THIS COURT FURTHER DECLARES that it has made no finding that Reliance (Canada) is insolvent.
- 3. THIS COURT ORDERS that Reliance (Canada) shall be wound-up by this Court pursuant to the *Winding-up and Restructuring Act*.
- 4. THIS COURT ORDERS AND DECLARES that the winding-up hereunder of Reliance (Canada) shall be deemed to commence November 8, 2001.
- 5. THIS COURT ORDERS that no suit, action or other proceeding shall be proceeded with or commenced against Reliance (Canada) or Reliance Insurance Company, except with leave of this Court and subject to such terms as this Court may impose.
- 6. THIS COURT ORDERS that every judgment, attachment, sequestration, distress, execution or like process put into force against Reliance (Canada) or Reliance Insurance Company, or the estate or effects thereof, after the commencement of the winding-up is void and of no effect.

Vikble Dem

DEC 0 0 2001

Or Johnson

KELIANCE INSURANCE COMPANY

pue

Respondent

1nnəi1qqA

COMMERCIPT FIST SUBERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE ONTARIO

Proceeding commenced at Toronto

MINDING-UP ORDER

LAX O'SULLIVAN SCOTT LLP Suite 1920 145 King Street West Toronto, Ontario M5H 1J8

Charles F. Scott LSUC # 14534N Brooke Shulman LSUC # 41032N Tel: (416) 589-3730 Fax: (416) 589-3730

Solicitors for the Applicant

G25/SMITHG\462266.6



ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE COMMERCIAL LIST

| THE HONOURABLE |) | MONDAY THE 3 RD DAY |
|--------------------|---|--------------------------------|
| MR. JUSTICE FARLEY |) | OF DECEMBER, 2001 |
| |) | |

IN THE MATTER OF RELIANCE INSURANCE COMPANY

AND IN THE MATTER OF THE INSURANCE COMPANIES ACT, S.C. 1991, C.47, AS AMENDED

AND IN THE MATTER OF THE WINDING-UP AND RESTRUCTURING ACT, R.S.C. 1985, C.W-11, AS AMENDED

BETWEEN:

THE ATTORNEY GENERAL OF CANADA

Applicant

- and -

RELIANCE INSURANCE COMPANY

Respondent

ORDER

THIS APPLICATION made by the Applicant was heard this day without a jury at Toronto, in the presence of counsel for the Applicant, for the Respondent, for KPMG Inc., and for the Property and Casualty Insurance Compensation Corporation ("PACICC"), no one opposing.

ON READING the Notice of Application and the evidence filed by the parties, and on hearing submissions of counsel for the parties:

- 1. THIS COURT ORDERS that the service of the Notice of Application and the materials herein be and it is hereby good and sufficient notice thereof and that any further service of the Notice of Application and materials herein be and it is hereby dispensed with.
- 2. THIS COURT ORDERS that KPMG Inc. be and is hereby appointed as provisional liquidator (the "Liquidator") of the insurance business in Canada of the Respondent, including the assets in Canada of the Respondent, together with its other assets held in Canada under the control of its chief agent, including, without limitation, all amounts received or receivable in respect of its insurance business in Canada ("Reliance (Canada)").
- 3. THIS COURT ORDERS that the giving of security by the Liquidator upon its appointment as liquidator be dispensed with.
- 4. THIS COURT ORDERS that all moneys belonging to Reliance (Canada) received by or on behalf of the Liquidator and its agents shall be paid into a chartered bank to the account of the Liquidator immediately after the receipt thereof and an account or accounts shall be opened immediately, provided, however, that the Liquidator shall have the discretion to deposit funds to and use the bank accounts currently in the name of or operated by Reliance (Canada).
- 5. THIS COURT ORDERS that any cheques or drafts in respect of policies, issued by Reliance (Canada) prior to the making of the winding-up order herein and which are presented for payment thereafter, may be paid out of the estate and effects of Reliance (Canada).
- 6. THIS COURT ORDERS that the amount recoverable from, due or owed by any reinsurer to Reliance (Canada) shall be paid to the Liquidator and shall not be reduced as a result of this Order or the winding-up order, notwithstanding any terms or contractual agreement to the

contrary, and that any payment made directly by a reinsurer to an insured or other creditor or claimant of Reliance (Canada) or Reliance Insurance Company shall not diminish or reduce or affect such reinsurer's obligation to Reliance (Canada).

- 7. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Liquidator is authorized to cure such defaults and effect such arrangements as may be required to reinstate such reinsurance affecting the operations of Reliance (Canada), as the Liquidator deems to be in the interest and for the protection of policyholders, creditors and claimants of Reliance (Canada).
- 8. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Liquidator may pay all valid policyholder claims, including claims in respect of unearned premiums, to the amount of \$25,000 or the amount, if any, of the voluntary compensation payment of PACICC which may be paid under the terms of its Memorandum of Operations (the "PACICC Voluntary Compensation Payment") until April 30, 2002 or such later date as this Court may order, subject to paragraph 9 hereof, and such payments shall be deemed for all purposes to have been payments made on account of claims in the course of the liquidation of Reliance (Canada).
- 9. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Liquidator may pay all valid claims including claims in respect of unearned premiums under the Meridian and other warranty and surety programs to the amount of \$5,000 or the amount, if any, of the PACICC Voluntary Compensation Payment until January 31, 2002 or such later date as this Court may order, and such payments shall be deemed for all purposes to have been payments made on account of claims in the course of the liquidation of Reliance (Canada).
- 10. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Liquidator may, after consultation with the Inspectors, make such other payments as the Liquidator in the Liquidator's discretion deems advisable in the circumstances in respect of policies of Reliance (Canada) and such payments

shall be deemed for all purposes to have been payments made on account of claims in the course of the liquidation of Reliance (Canada).

- 11. THIS COURT ORDERS that in addition to the payments referred to in paragraphs 8 and 10, until April 30, 2002 or such later date as this Court may order, the Liquidator may pay and continue to pay all reasonable legal and other costs, incurred to and including April 30, 2002, which Reliance (Canada) is obligated to pay for defending any insureds against losses under Reliance (Canada)'s policies in accordance with the applicable policy ("Defence Costs"), subject to the applicable terms and limits of such policies. For greater certainty, all payments of Defence Costs shall be deemed for all purposes to have been payments made on account of claims in the course of the liquidation of Reliance (Canada) and to form part of the expenses of the liquidation as a first charge on the assets of the estate. However, if the applicable policy so provides, such payments shall be taken into account in determining the amount which would otherwise be distributed to the respective policyholders and claimants, or otherwise paid on account of Defence Costs, as the case may be, at such time as any further distributions or similar arrangements are made in respect of their policies.
- 12. THIS COURT ORDERS that any payments made by the Liquidator pursuant to paragraphs 5, 8, 9, 10 and 11 hereof, other than payments made pursuant to clerical errors (the "Payments"):
 - (a) shall be deemed to be payments made on account of claims in the liquidation of Reliance (Canada) and shall be deducted from the amount which would otherwise be distributed at such time as further distributions or similar arrangements are made in respect of such claims;
 - (b) shall be deemed to have been made in accordance with this Order;

- in respect of any policy shall not obligate the Liquidator to make further payments in respect thereof; and
- (d) which may have exceeded the ultimate amount which the Liquidator determines is available for distribution to the respective policyholders and claimants, or available for payment of Defence Costs, as the case may be, (collectively, the "Overpayments") shall be deemed not to be preferences and shall not be repayable by the recipients or policyholders.

Neither the Liquidator nor the Liquidator's agents, advisers or employees shall be liable to any person in respect of the Overpayments.

- 13. THIS COURT ORDERS that PACICC, which shall designate from time to time one or more persons as its representative, and the Insurance Commissioner of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania in her capacity as Liquidator of the Respondent or her designee are appointed inspectors (collectively the "Inspectors") to assist and advise the Liquidator in the winding-up of Reliance (Canada).
- 14. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Inspectors may apply to this Court on motion for directions concerning any matter relating to the liquidation of Reliance (Canada).
- 15. THIS COURT ORDERS that each claim in respect of which PACICC makes a PACICC Voluntary Compensation Payment (a "Compensated Claim") shall be deemed to be and shall hereby be assigned in its entirety to PACICC without specific assignment or further steps required. PACICC shall be entitled to assert each Compensated Claim in the Liquidation. Reliance (Canada) is hereby deemed to have acquiesced to the assignment of Compensated Claims provided for herein and to have received a copy of the deed of assignment. PACICC and the Liquidator shall be deemed to be and shall hereby be released and forever discharged from

any and all claims, actions, losses and liabilities which any person has or may have at present or in the future with respect to each Compensated Claim.

- 16. THIS COURT ORDERS that, notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 15, the Liquidator may make funds in the estate available to PACICC from time to time to be used by PACICC to make PACICC Voluntary Compensation Payments pursuant to the terms and conditions of the loan and services agreement made effective as of the date hereof between the Liquidator and PACICC, which is hereby approved.
- 17. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Liquidator is authorised and empowered to act as administrator of insurance coverage on behalf of third parties who assume all or part of the insurance risk, and to be paid the fees earned by Reliance (Canada), pursuant to the terms of the contracts between Reliance (Canada) and such third parties.
- 18. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Liquidator is entitled forthwith to possession of all of Reliance (Canada)'s books, accounts, securities, documents, papers, computer programs and data, registers and records of any kind ("Books and Records") and that Reliance (Canada), its present and former shareholders, directors, officers, employees, salespeople and agents, accountants, auditors, solicitors, trustees, and every person having knowledge of this Order and having possession or control of such Books and Records, do forthwith deliver over to the Liquidator or to the Liquidator's agent all such Books and Records.
- 19. THIS COURT ORDERS that all persons, including, without limitation, employees, brokers, legal counsel, insurance agents, third party administrators, or salespeople having access to or knowledge of the affairs of Reliance (Canada) do co-operate with the Liquidator in providing information or documents necessary or incidental to the liquidation of Reliance (Canada).

- 20. THIS COURT ORDERS that any entity which has custody or control of any data processing information and records (including but not limited to source documents, all types of electronically stored information, master tapes or any other recorded information) relating to Reliance (Canada), shall transfer custody and control of such records in a form readable by the Liquidator to the Liquidator as of the date of this Order, unless instructed to the contrary by the Liquidator.
- 21. THIS COURT ORDERS that any entity furnishing claims processing or data processing services to Reliance (Canada) shall maintain such services and transfer any such accounts to the Liquidator as of the date of this Order, unless instructed to the contrary by the Liquidator.
- 22. THIS COURT ORDERS that Reliance (Canada) and its Chief Agent, officers, trustees, employees, consultants, agents, and legal counsel shall: surrender peacefully to the Liquidator the premises where Reliance (Canada) conducts its business; deliver all keys or access codes thereto and to any safe deposit boxes; advise the Liquidator of the combinations or access codes of any safe or safekeeping devices of Reliance (Canada) or any password or authorization code or access code required for access to data processing equipment; and shall deliver and surrender peacefully to the Liquidator all of the assets, books, records, files, credit cards, and other property of Reliance (Canada) in their possession or control, wherever located, and otherwise advise and cooperate with the Liquidator in identifying and locating any of the foregoing.
- 23. THIS COURT ORDERS that all persons, firms, corporations and other entities having agreements, whether written or oral, with Reliance (Canada) for the supply of goods or services, be and they are hereby enjoined from terminating, accelerating, suspending, modifying, determining or cancelling such agreements without the written consent of the Liquidator or leave

of this Court, and that all such parties shall continue to comply with their obligations under such agreements or otherwise on terms currently provided so long as the Liquidator pays the normal prices or charges for such goods or services incurred after the date of this Order in accordance with usual payment terms or as may hereafter be negotiated by the Liquidator from time to time.

- 24. THIS COURT ORDERS that all persons, firms, corporations and other entities be and they are hereby enjoined from disturbing or interfering with the occupation, possession or use by the Liquidator of any premises occupied or leased by Reliance (Canada) as at November 8, 2001 except upon further Order of this Court. From November 8, 2001 and for the period of time that the Liquidator occupies any leased premises, the Liquidator shall pay occupation rent to each lessor based upon the regular monthly base rent that was previously paid by Reliance (Canada) in respect of the premises so occupied or as may hereafter be negotiated by the Liquidator from time to time.
- 25. THIS COURT ORDERS that all persons, firms, corporations and other entities be and they are hereby enjoined from disturbing or interfering with computer software, hardware, support and data services or with utility services, including, but not limited to, the furnishing of oil, gas, heat, electricity, water, telephone service (including at present telephone numbers used by Reliance (Canada)) or any other utilities of like kind furnished to Reliance (Canada) and they are hereby enjoined from discontinuing or altering any such utilities or services to the Liquidator except upon further order of this Court, so long as the Liquidator pays the normal prices or charges for such goods and services incurred after November 8, 2001 as the same become due in accordance with usual payment terms or as may hereafter be negotiated by the Liquidator from time to time.

- 26. THIS COURT ORDERS that, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, and except upon further order of this Court having been obtained on at least 7 days' notice to the Liquidator:
 - (a) all persons, firms, corporations and other entities be and they are hereby restrained from terminating, cancelling or otherwise withdrawing any licences, permits, approvals or consents with respect to or in connection with Reliance (Canada) as they were on November 8, 2001;
 - (b) any and all proceedings or steps taken or that may be taken, wheresoever taken, by any person, firm, corporation or entity, including, without limitation, any of the policyholders or creditors of Reliance (Canada), suppliers, co-insurers, reinsurers, contracting parties, depositors, lessors, tenants, co-venturers or partners (hereinafter, in this paragraph "Claimants") against or in respect of Reliance (Canada) shall be and hereby are stayed and suspended;
 - the right of any Claimant to make demands for payment on or in respect of any guarantee or similar obligation or to make demand or draw down under any letters of credit, bonds or instruments of similar effect, issued by or on behalf of Reliance (Canada), to take possession of, to foreclose upon or to otherwise deal with any property, wheresoever located, of Reliance (Canada) whether held directly or indirectly, as principal or nominee, beneficially or otherwise, or to continue any actions or proceedings in respect of the foregoing, is hereby restrained;
 - (d) the right of any Claimant to assert, enforce or exercise any right (including, without limitation, any right of dilution, buy-out, divestiture, forced sale, acceleration, termination, suspension, modification or cancellation or right to

revoke any qualification or registration), option or remedy available to it including a right, option or remedy arising under or in respect of any agreement (including, without limitation, any contract, debt instrument, guarantee, option, co-ownership agreement or any agreement of purchase of sale but not including any eligible financial contract, as defined in the *Winding-up and Restructuring Act*) to which Reliance (Canada) is a party, arising out of, relating to or triggered by the occurrence of any default or non-performance by Reliance (Canada) or the making or filing of these proceedings, or any allegation contained in these proceedings, is hereby restrained; and

- (e) all Claimants are restrained from exercising any extra judicial remedies against Reliance (Canada), including, without limitation, the registration or re-registration of any securities owned by Reliance (Canada) into the name of such persons, firms, corporations or entities or their nominees, the exercise of any voting rights attaching to such securities, the retention of any payments or other distributions made in respect of such securities, any right of distress, repossession, or consolidation of accounts in relation to amounts due or accruing due in respect of or arising from any indebtedness or obligation of Reliance (Canada) as of the date hereof.
- THIS COURT ORDERS that no action lies against the Liquidator, any of its affiliates (the "Affiliates") any director, officer, agent, representative or employee of the Liquidator or of the Affiliates, any entity or person (or director, officer, agent, representative or employee of any such entity or person) acting under the direction of the Liquidator, or the Inspectors or any director, officer, agent, representative or employee thereof, for anything done or omitted to be done in good faith in the administration of the liquidation of Reliance (Canada) or in the exercise of the Liquidator's powers under this Order or otherwise.

- 28. THIS COURT ORDERS that no suit, action or other proceeding shall be proceeded with or commenced against the Liquidator, the Affiliates, any director, officer, agent, representative or employee of the Liquidator, or of the Affiliates, any entity or person (or director, officer agent, representative or employee of any such person) acting under the direction of the Liquidator, or the Inspectors or any director, officer, agent, representative or employee thereof, except with leave of this Court and subject to such terms as this Court may impose.
- 29. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Liquidator may, without the approval, sanction or intervention of this Court and without previous notice to the policyholders or creditors of Reliance (Canada) or any other person,
 - (a) take control of the estate and effects of Reliance (Canada) or such part thereof as the Liquidator shall determine;
 - (b) bring or defend any action, suit or prosecution or other legal proceeding, civil or criminal, in the Liquidator's own name as liquidator or in the name or on behalf of Reliance (Canada), as the case may be;
 - (c) carry on the business of Reliance (Canada) so far as it is necessary or incidental to the winding-up of Reliance (Canada);
 - (d) lease or mortgage or otherwise realize upon the undertaking, property and assets of Reliance (Canada) or any part or parts thereof;
 - (e) sell the real and personal property, effects, intangibles and choses in action of Reliance (Canada), including all or any portion of Reliance (Canada)'s contracts and products and related assets, including, without limitation, Reliance (Canada)'s lists of policyholders and customers, by public auction or private contract, and transfer the whole thereof to any person or company, or sell them in parcels;

- do all acts and execute, in the name of and on behalf of Reliance (Canada), all deeds, receipts, and other documents, and for that purpose use, when necessary, the seal of Reliance (Canada), and file any elections (tax or otherwise), objections or registrations, and file any notices, all as may be necessary or desirable in the opinion of the Liquidator for the better liquidation of Reliance (Canada);
- (g) prove, rank, claim and draw dividends in the matter of the bankruptcy, insolvency or sequestration of any contributory, for any sum due to Reliance (Canada) from the contributory, and take and receive dividends in respect of the bankruptcy, insolvency or sequestration, as a separate debt due from that contributory and rateably with the other separate creditors;
- (h) draw, accept, make and endorse any bill of exchange or promissory note in the name of and on behalf of Reliance (Canada);
- (i) give discharges of mortgages and other securities, partial discharges of mortgages and other securities, and pay property taxes and insurance premiums on mortgages and other securities taken in favour of Reliance (Canada);
- (j) pay such debts of Reliance (Canada) as may be necessary to be paid in order to properly preserve and maintain the undertaking, property and assets of Reliance (Canada) or to carry on the business of Reliance (Canada);
- (k) surrender possession of any premises occupied by Reliance (Canada) and disclaim any leases entered into by Reliance (Canada);
- apply for any permits, licences, approvals or permissions as may be required by any governmental or regulatory authority;

- (m) re-direct Reliance (Canada)'s mail;
- (n) enter into any eligible financial contracts, as defined in the *Winding-up and Restructuring Act*;
- (o) take possession and control of all securities in which Reliance (Canada) has an interest (directly or indirectly) and exercise all rights that may be enjoyed by a holder of such securities including, without limitation, rights (i) that may arise by virtue of the holder being a party to a shareholder or similar agreement that may, by way of example, restrict the powers of the directors to manage or supervise the management of the business and affairs of the corporation, (ii) to receive information, (iii) to attend at and cause to be held meetings of holders of such securities, (iv) to vote such securities for the removal or election of directors and approval of significant transactions (such as the sale or disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of such company or the winding-up, liquidation, rehabilitation, bankruptcy, receivership, restructuring or amalgamation of such company), and (v) to sell or otherwise dispose of such securities;
- (p) compromise all calls and liabilities to calls, debts and liabilities capable of resulting in debts, and all claims, demands and matters in dispute in any way relating to or affecting the assets of Reliance (Canada) or the winding-up of Reliance (Canada), on the receipt of such sums, payable at such times, and generally on such terms as are agreed on by the Liquidator;
- (q) make such compromise or other arrangements with creditors or persons claiming to be creditors of Reliance (Canada) as the Liquidator deems expedient; and

- (r) do and execute all such other things as are necessary for, or incidental to the winding-up of the affairs of Reliance (Canada), including without limitation entering into agreements incurring obligations.
- 30. THIS COURT FURTHER ORDERS that the Liquidator may, with the approval of this Court and on such notice as the Court may direct:
 - (a) arrange for the transfer or reinsurance of all or a portion of the policies of Reliance (Canada); and
 - (b) cancel all or a portion of the outstanding policies of Reliance (Canada).
- 31. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Liquidator and any of the Liquidator's agents, officers, directors, representatives or employees shall be deemed not to be an employer or a successor employer of the employees of Reliance (Canada) within the meaning of the *Pension Benefits Act* (Ontario), *Employment Standards Act* (Ontario), the *Labour Relations Act* (Ontario) or any other Federal, Provincial or Municipal legislation governing employment or labour standards or any other statute, regulation or rule of law or equity for any purpose whatsoever and, further, that the Liquidator and any of the Liquidator's agents, directors, officers, representatives or employees shall not be and shall be deemed not to be, in possession, charge or control of the property or business or affairs of Reliance (Canada) pursuant to any Federal, Provincial or Municipal legislation, statute, regulation or rule of law or equity which imposes liability on the basis of such status including, without limitation, the *Environmental Protection Act* (Ontario), the *Canadian Environmental Protection Act*, or the *Ontario Water Resources Act*, and this shall be binding on all tribunals and administrative bodies.
- 32. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Liquidator may retain, employ or engage such actuaries, accountants, financial advisors, investment dealers, solicitors, attorneys, valuers or

other expert or professional persons as the Liquidator deems necessary or desirable to assist the Liquidator in fulfilling the Liquidator's duties, and all reasonable and proper expenses which the Liquidator may incur in so doing shall be costs of liquidation of Reliance (Canada).

- 33. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Liquidator may act on the advice or information obtained from any actuary, accountant, financial advisor, investment dealer, solicitor, attorney, valuer or other expert or professional person, and the Liquidator shall not be responsible for any loss, depreciation or damage occasioned by acting in good faith in reliance thereon.
- 34. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Liquidator shall be paid such remuneration as the Court Orders.
- 35. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Liquidator shall be at liberty to apply reasonable amounts against its remuneration, expenses and disbursements on a monthly basis and that such amounts shall constitute advances against its remuneration and expenses on, but subject to, the passing of its accounts.
- 36. THIS COURT ORDERS that this Order and any other orders in these proceedings shall have full force and effect in all Provinces and Territories in Canada.
- 37. THIS COURT SEEKS AND REQUESTS the aid and recognition of any Court or administrative body in any Province or Territory of Canada and any Canadian Federal Court or administrative body and any Federal or State Court or administrative body in the United States of America and any Court or administrative body in the United Kingdom or elsewhere to act in aid of and to be complementary to this Court in carrying out the terms of this Order.
- 38. THIS COURT ORDERS that the costs of this application, including the costs of the Inspectors, are to be assessed on a solicitor and his own client basis and shall be costs of liquidation of Reliance (Canada).

39. THIS COURT ORDERS that interested parties may apply to the Court for advice and directions on 7 days' notice to the Liquidator and the Inspectors, and that the Liquidator may at any time apply to this Court for advice and directions.

DEC 02200:

pue

THE ATTORNEY GENERAL OF

1npəilqqA

COMMEKCIVT FIZE SOBERIOR COORT OF TOSTICE ONTARIO

Proceeding commenced at Toronto

OKDEK

LAX O'SULLIVAN SCOTT LLP Suite 1920 145 King Street West Toronto, Ontario M5H 1J8

Charles F. Scott LSUC # 14534N Tel: (416) 646-7997 Tel: (416) 589-3730

Solicitors for the Applicant

G25/SMITHG/462267.10

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

COMMERCIAL LIST

| THE HONOURABLE |) | WEDNESDAY, THE 30 TH DAY | |
|--------------------|---|-------------------------------------|--|
| |) | | |
| MR. JUSTICE FARLEY |) | OF JANUARY, 2002 | |

IN THE MATTER OF RELIANCE INSURANCE COMPANY

AND IN THE MATTER OF THE INSURANCE COMPANIES ACT, S.C. 1991, C.47, AS AMENDED

AND IN THE MATTER OF THE WINDING-UP AND RESTRUCTURING ACT, R.S.C. 1985, C.W-11, AS AMENDED

BETWEEN:

THE ATTORNEY GENERAL OF CANADA

Applicant

- and -

RELIANCE INSURANCE COMPANY

Respondent

ORDER

THIS APPLICATION, brought by KPMG Inc., the liquidator (the "Liquidator") of the insurance business in Canada of Reliance Insurance Company ("Reliance (Canada)"), was heard this day at 393 University Avenue, Toronto, Ontario.

ON READING the Report of the Liquidator dated January 28, 2002, filed, and the Order of this Court dated December 3, 2001 appointing the Liquidator (the "Appointment Order") and on hearing submissions of counsel for the Liquidator and the Property and Casualty

Insurance Compensation Corporation and on being advised of the consent of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions (the "Superintendent") and M. Diane Koken, Liquidator of Reliance Insurance Company,

- 1. **THIS COURT ORDERS** that the service of the Notice of Motion and materials herein is good and sufficient service of this motion, that the motion is properly returnable before this Court and that further service thereof upon any interested party other than those parties served be and it is hereby dispensed with.
- 2. **THIS COURT ORDERS** that paragraph 9 of the Appointment Order be and it is hereby amended to extend the date of January 31, 2002 set out therein to April 30, 2002 or such later date as this Court may order.
- 3. **THIS COURT ORDERS** that the Liquidator shall give notice to the Superintendent of all meetings of the inspectors of the estate and that the Superintendent shall be entitled to attend and be heard at such meetings.
- 4. **THIS COURT ORDERS** that the Superintendent may call meetings of the inspectors on reasonable notice to the inspectors and to the Liquidator.
- 5. **THIS COURT ORDERS** that the Liquidator shall give notice of all proceedings in this matter to the Superintendent by including the Superintendent on the service list, and that, subject to further order of this Court, the Superintendent may attend and be heard at such proceedings.
- 6. **THIS COURT ORDERS** that paragraphs 27 and 28 of the Appointment Order be amended to include the Superintendent, or any of his agents, representatives or employees.
- 7. **THIS COURT ORDERS** that the Superintendent may apply to this Court on motion for directions concerning any matter relating to the liquidation of Reliance (Canada).

ENTERED ATMISCRIT À TORL..... ON/BOOK NO: LE/DANS LE REGISTRE NO:

JAN 3 1 2002

PER/PAR:

NB

ROGISTRAR

and

Court File No: 01-CL-4313

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE COMMERCIAL LIST

Proceeding commenced at Toronto

ORDER

GOODMANS LLP

Barristers & Solicitors 250 Yonge Street Suite 2400, Box 24 Toronto, Ontario M5B 2M6

Gale Rubenstein\LSUC # 17088E

Tel: (416) 597-4148 Fax: (416) 979-1234

Solicitors for KPMG Inc., the Liquidator of Reliance (Canada)

G26//4422038.3

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

COMMERCIAL LIST

| THE HONOURABLE |) | WEDNESDAY, THE 8 TH DAY |
|--------------------|---|------------------------------------|
| |) | |
| MR. JUSTICE FARLEY |) | OF MAY, 2002 |
| | | |

IN THE MATTER OF RELIANCE INSURANCE COMPANY

AND IN THE MATTER OF THE RANCE COMPANIES ACT, S.C. 1991, C.47, AS AMENDED

AND IN THE MATTER OF THE WINDING-UP AND RESTRUCTURING ACT, R.S.C. 1985, C.W-11, AS AMENDED

BETWEEN:

THE ATTORNEY GENERAL OF CANADA

Applicant

- and -

RELIANCE INSURANCE COMPANY

Respondent

ORDER

THIS MOTION, brought by KPMG Inc., the liquidator (the "Liquidator") of the insurance business in Canada of Reliance Insurance Company ("Reliance (Canada)"), originally returnable April 29, 2002, having been adjourned to May 6, 2002 and having been further adjourned to today, was heard this day at 361 University Avenue, Toronto, Ontario.

ON READING the Report of the Liquidator dated April 23, 2002, filed, the Order of this Court dated December 3, 2001 appointing the Liquidator (the "Appointment Order"), the Order of this Court dated January 30, 2002 (the "Meridian Extension Order") and

the Order of this Court dated April 29, 2002 (the "Second Extension Order"), on hearing submissions of counsel for the Liquidator, and on the consent of the Property and Casualty Insurance Compensation Corporation and of Maritime Road Development Corporation,

- 1. **THIS COURT ORDERS** that the service of the Notice of Motion and materials herein is good and sufficient service of this motion, that the motion is properly returnable before this Court and that further service thereof upon any interested party other than those parties served be and it is hereby dispensed with.
- 2. **THIS COURT ORDERS** that paragraphs 8 and 11 of the Appointment Order, amended by the Second Extension Order to extend the date of April 30, 2002 to May 6, 2002, be and hereby are further amended *nunc pro tunc* to extend the date of May 6, 2002 to December 31, 2002 or such later date as this Court may order.
- 3. **THIS COURT ORDERS** that paragraph 9 of the Appointment Order, amended by the Meridian Extension Order to extend the date of January 31, 2002 to April 30, 2002, be and hereby is further amended *nunc pro tunc* to extend the date to December 31, 2002 or such later date as this Court may order.
- 4. **THIS COURT ORDERS** that the agreement made the 3rd day of April, 2002 between London Guarantee Insurance Company ("London Guarantee") and the Liquidator substantially in the form attached to the Report (the "Meridian Transfer Agreement") be and hereby is approved.
- 5. **THIS COURT ORDERS** that the Liquidator be and hereby is authorized to fulfill its obligations under the Meridian Transfer Agreement, and to take such steps and do such acts as may be necessary therewith, including to agree to such modifications as may be, in its opinion, necessary or desirable without further recourse to this Court.
- 6. **THIS COURT ORDERS** that any payments made by the Liquidator to London Guarantee pursuant to the Meridian Transfer Agreement including, without limitation, the amount payable on Closing (as defined in the Meridian Transfer Agreement) and the amounts paid into the Claims Account (as defined therein), which latter amounts shall be held in trust for the purposes set out in the Meridian Transfer Agreement, shall be free and clear of any right, title, interest or other claim of any person, except as provided in the Meridian Transfer Agreement.

- 7. **THIS COURT ORDERS** that from and after Closing (as defined in the Meridian Transfer Agreement), the Liquidator and Reliance (Canada) shall have no further liability in respect of the Policy Liabilities (as defined therein) to any person, other than to London Guarantee pursuant to the Meridian Transfer Agreement.
- 8. **THIS COURT ORDERS** that all of Reliance (Canada)'s right, title and interest in the Policies and the Records (both as defined in the Meridian Transfer Agreement) shall be vested in London Guarantee on the Closing (as defined therein), free and clear of any right, title, interest or other claim of any person.

ENTERED AT/INSCRIT À TORONTO ON/BOOK NO: LE/DANS LE REGISTRE NO:

MAY 1 0 2002

PER/PAR:

gug

COMMERCIVE FIST SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE ONTARIO

Proceeding commenced at Toronto

OKDEK

GOODMANS LLP Barristers & Solic

Barristers & Solicitors 250 Yonge Street Suite 2400, Box 24 Toronto, Ontario MSB 2M6

Gale Rubenstein/LSUC # 17088E

Tel: (416) 597-4148 Fax: (416) 979-1234

Solicitors for KPMG Inc., the Liquidator of Reliance (Canada)

Court File No. 01-CL-4313

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE COMMERCIAL LIST

IN THE MATTER OF RELIANCE INSURANCE COMPANY

AND IN THE MATTER OF THE INSURANCE COMPANIES ACT, S.C. 1991, C.47, AS AMENDED

AND IN THE MATTER OF THE
WINDING-UP AND RESTRUCTURING ACT, R.S.C. 1985, C.W-11, AS
AMENDED

BETWEEN:

THE ATTORNEY GENERAL OF CANADA

Applicant

- and -

RELIANCE INSURANCE COMPANY

Respondent

REPORT OF KPMG INC., THE LIQUIDATOR OF RELIANCE INSURANCE COMPANY

April 23, 2002

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| | | PAGE |
|------|---|------|
| I. | NATURE OF THE MOTION | 1 |
| II. | BACKGROUND | 2 |
| III. | THE MERIDIAN TRANSFER AGREEMENT | 3 |
| IV. | EXTENSION OF POLICY PAYMENTS AND DEFENSE COSTS PAYMENTS | NTS8 |
| V. | RECOMMENDATIONS | 9 |

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

COMMERCIAL LIST

IN THE MATTER OF RELIANCE INSURANCE COMPANY

AND IN THE MATTER OF THE INSURANCE COMPANIES ACT, S.C. 1991, C.47, AS AMENDED

AND IN THE MATTER OF THE WINDING-UP AND RESTRUCTURING ACT, R.S.C. 1985, C.W-11, AS AMENDED

BETWEEN:

THE ATTORNEY GENERAL OF CANADA

Applicant

- and -

RELIANCE INSURANCE COMPANY

Respondent

April 23, 2002

I. NATURE OF THE MOTION

- 1. This Report is respectfully filed in support of a motion by KPMG Inc., the liquidator (the "Liquidator") of Reliance (Canada) (as hereinafter defined) for an Order:
 - (a) amending the Order of this Court dated January 30, 2002 to extend the date for Meridian Payments (as hereinafter defined) from April 30, 2002 to December 31, 2002 or such later date as this Court may order;
 - (b) approving the Meridian Transfer Agreement (as hereinafter defined); and
 - (c) amending the Appointment Order to extend the date for Policy Payments and payment of Defense Costs (all as hereinafter defined), as provided in paragraphs 8

and 11, respectively, thereof from April 30, 2002 to December 31, 2002 or such later date as this Court may order.

II. BACKGROUND

- 2. Reliance Insurance Company ("Reliance") is a property and casualty insurer in the United States of America, domiciled in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. Reliance has carried on business in Canada as a "foreign company" within the meaning of the *Insurance Companies Act* through its branch since 1918.
- 3. Reliance was ordered to be liquidated by Order of the Commonwealth Court of Pennsylvania dated October 3, 2001, under the Pennsylvania *Insurance Department Act of 1921*. M. Diane Koken, Commissioner of Insurance for Pennsylvania, was appointed liquidator (the "U.S. Liquidator").
- 4. By Order of the Honourable Mr. Justice Farley made December 3, 2001 (the "Winding-up Order"), the insurance business in Canada of Reliance Insurance Company ("Reliance (Canada)") was ordered wound-up pursuant to the provisions of the *Winding-up and Restructuring Act*. A copy of the Winding-up Order is attached as Schedule "A" hereto.
- 5. By further Order of this Court made December 3, 2001 (the "Appointment Order"), KPMG Inc. was appointed provisional liquidator. A copy of the Appointment Order is attached as Schedule "B" hereto.
- 6. The relevant provisions of the Appointment Order for the purposes of this motion are as follows:
 - (a) paragraph 8 provides that the Liquidator may pay all valid policyholder claims, including claims in respect of unearned premiums, to the amount of \$25,000 or the amount of the coverage limits of the Property and Casualty Compensation Insurance Corporation ("PACICC") if any (the "Policy Payments"), until April 30, 2002 or such later date as the Court may order, subject to paragraph 9 of the Appointment Order, and that such payments are deemed to be payments made on account of claims in the liquidation;
 - (b) paragraph 9 provides that the Liquidator may pay all valid claims, including claims in respect of unearned premiums, under the Meridian Program (as

hereinafter defined) and other warranty and surety programs to the amount of \$5,000 or the PACICC coverage limits, if any (the "Meridian Payments"), until January 31, 2002 or such later date as the Court may order, and that such payments are deemed to be payments made on account of claims in the liquidation;

- paragraph 11 provides that the Liquidator may pay and continue to pay all reasonable legal and other costs, incurred to and including April 30, 2002 that Reliance (Canada) is obligated to pay for defending any insureds against losses under Reliance (Canada)'s policies in accordance with the applicable policy, subject to the terms and limits of such policies (the "Defense Costs"); and
- (d) paragraph 30 provides that the Liquidator may, with the approval of this Court, arrange for the transfer or reinsurance of all or a portion of the policies of Reliance (Canada) or cancel all or a portion of the outstanding policies of Reliance (Canada).
- 7. By Order of this Court dated January 30, 2002, the date of January 31, 2002 for Meridian Payments was extended to April 30, 2002.

III. THE MERIDIAN TRANSFER AGREEMENT

- 8. Attached hereto as Schedule "C" is a copy of the Report of the Liquidator dated January 28, 2002 in support of the application to extend the date for Meridian Payments. The Report describes the Meridian Program and the Liquidator's considerations in exploring a transaction to transfer or reinsure the policies issued under the Meridian Program. In summary:
 - (a) In October, 2000, Reliance stopped issuing new policies and began "running-off" or winding down its existing business. Among its remaining blocks of insurance business was a program under which Reliance (Canada) issued extended warranty coverage for automobiles and other vehicles, as described below (the "Meridian Program"). Coverage was written in all provinces, except Quebec. There are approximately 18,000 Meridian policyholders. The last policy expires in 2007.
 - (b) In 1995, Reliance (Canada) entered into an arrangement with Meridian Warranty Management Inc. (an unaffiliated company), under which Reliance (Canada) issued certificates extending repair warranty coverage on vehicles. The coverage

was 100% reinsured by other insurers, being AXA Insurance and Lloyds Underwriters (the "Meridian Reinsurers"). This type of arrangement is known in the industry as a "fronting" arrangement, since the issuing insurer (here, Reliance (Canada)) is fully reinsured and retains no residual risk. The effect is that Reliance (Canada) earns a percentage fee from each of the reinsurers, rather than bearing the ultimate benefit or burden of the underwriting risk.

- (c) Although the Meridian Program is designed so that the ultimate underwriting risk is borne by the Meridian Reinsurers, Reliance (Canada) is the issuer of the policies and is therefore directly liable to the policyholders. This means that Reliance (Canada) bears the risk of the Meridian Reinsurers not paying and must reserve for these policies in the normal way, as liabilities of Reliance (Canada). Conversely, the policyholders bear the risk of Reliance (Canada)'s insolvency. The reinsurance amounts remain an asset of Reliance.
- (d) Attached hereto as Schedule "D" is a copy of a letter dated November 8, 2001 from KPMG Inc. to the Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions Canada, which was included as an exhibit to the affidavit filed in support of the application for the winding-up order. As indicated in that letter, it was KPMG Inc.'s view that a transfer or reinsurance of the policies would be in the best interests of policyholders, creditors and other parties interested in Reliance (Canada). KPMG Inc. recommended the making of the Policy Payments and the Meridian Payments to enhance the value to any potential transferee or reinsurer. The Liquidator has been making the payments.
- 9. The Liquidator has been engaged in a marketing process for the policies of Reliance (Canada), including those under the Meridian Program. With respect to the Meridian Program, the Liquidator considered the nature of the program and its limited profit potential, given that it is only a fee generating business. The Liquidator consulted management of Reliance (Canada), the third party administrators of the Meridian Program, the Meridian Reinsurers, and others involved in this area of the insurance market to identify potential purchasers. Five insurers were approached. One insurer, London Guarantee Insurance Company ("London Guarantee"), expressed an interest in continuing discussions.

- 10. Attached as Schedule "E" is a copy of an agreement made April 3, 2002 between the Liquidator and London Guarantee (the "Meridian Transfer Agreement"). In summary, it provides:
 - (a) London Guarantee will assume Reliance (Canada)'s liabilities under the Meridian Program (the "Meridian Liabilities").
 - (b) The benefit of underlying reinsurance will be transferred to London Guarantee simultaneously with its assumption of the Meridian Liabilities.
 - (c) The warranties forming part of the Meridian Liabilities have been, to the extent they are known to the parties, listed in a listing initialled by the parties. London Guarantee will assume Reliance (Canada)'s liabilities for warranties not listed but for which either or both of the Meridian Reinsurers accepts liability. It will also assume Reliance (Canada)'s liabilities for warranties not listed for which neither Meridian Reinsurer accepts liability, but if there are more than 2,000 of such warranties, the liabilities for the 2,001st such warranty and each warranty discovered thereafter will not form part of the Meridian Liabilities and will not be assumed by London Guarantee.
 - (d) On closing the Liquidator will:
 - (i) pay London Guarantee \$975,000.00;
 - (ii) transfer to London Guarantee amounts in various loss adjustment expense funds and loss reserve funds maintained by Reliance (Canada) in respect of various portions of the Meridian Liabilities; and
 - (iii) reimburse London Guarantee for the aggregate compensation London Guarantee pays a third party administrator, for reinsurance consulting services in relation to the Meridian Liabilities.
 - (e) The Liquidator and London Guarantee will establish a trust account with Royal Trust Company of Canada to be designated as the "Claims Account" into which the Liquidator will deposit approximately \$10,500,000.00, being the current actuarial valuation of the Meridian Liabilities. London Guarantee will be entitled to draw on the Claims Account for loss or premium refund claims or any loss

adjustment expense due and payable for which the appropriate Meridian Reinsurer fails to make payment within 7 days of demand. However, London Guarantee may only make the withdrawal if any loss reserve fund or loss adjustment expense fund transferred to London Guarantee for such purpose is fully depleted.

- (f) The Liquidator will also deliver to London Guarantee on closing two letters of credit, each in the initial amount of \$1,000,000.00. London Guarantee will be entitled to draw down these letters of credit for the purpose specified in the preceding paragraph if and when the Claims Account has been depleted.
- (g) On or before the 60th day following each anniversary of closing until all of the policies to which the Meridian Liabilities relate have expired, a valuation of the Meridian Liabilities will be prepared. If the valuation amount shown in such valuation is less than the amount in the Claims Account, the amount of the difference is to be withdrawn from the Claims Account and paid to the Liquidator.
- (h) On the 180th day after the expiration of all policies assumed by London Guarantee, the Claims Account, if then still in existence, is to be closed and the balance therein remitted to the Liquidator, and London Guarantee is to surrender the letters of credit, subject to the Liquidator providing to London Guarantee cash or other security satisfactory to London Guarantee, acting reasonably, in an amount equal to the lesser of:
 - (i) an amount sufficient to pay all amounts then still claimed by persons in respect of the Meridian Liabilities; and
 - (ii) the amount in the Claims Account immediately prior to its closure and the undrawn balance of the letters of credit.
- (i) The security provided by the Liquidator in respect of each outstanding claim will be released to the Liquidator when the claim is resolved and the appropriate Meridian Reinsurer satisfies London Guarantee's liability in respect thereof.
- (j) London Guarantee has agreed with the Liquidator to use reasonable efforts to collect all amounts owing under the reinsurance contracts, and to permit the

Liquidator, at its expense, to commence legal action against a Meridian Reinsurer failing to meet its obligations under its reinsurance contract.

- (k) In addition to the execution of written reinsurance contracts with the Meridian Reinsurers, closing of this transaction is also conditional upon approval of the Minister of Finance under the *Insurance Companies Act*, approval of this court, and the execution of new administration and reinsurance consulting agreements with certain third party administrators in forms which have been attached to the Assumption Reinsurance Agreement.
- (1) The Liquidator anticipates that the conditions will be satisfied, and that closing will occur, no later than September 30, 2002.

11. The alternatives to the Meridian Transfer Agreement are:

- (a) to run-off the policies, in which case the estate would have to bear the costs of administration of the run-off until 2007; or
- (b) to cancel the policies. Given that vehicles warranties are generally sold at the time the vehicle is purchased, it is unlikely the policyholders would be able to replace the coverage. Cancelling the policies would involve payment of unearned premium to each of the individual policyholders. The administrative costs associated with the calculation of the unearned premiums would be significant. The calculation of the unearned premium is based on the percentage of the premium referable to the unexpired term of the policy. The term of the Meridian policies depends not only on the passage of time but also on the number of kilometres driven. Therefore the calculation of unearned premium would require eliciting and reviewing responses on this point from 18,000 policyholders. Further, it is not clear whether the Meridian Reinsurers are liable to refund premiums paid to them by Reliance (Canada) to compensate for the cancellation of the policies (on the issuances of the policies.) It is also not clear whether fees paid by Reliance (Canada) would be repayable.
- 12. Because Reliance (Canada) is fronting the Meridian Program and so bears the administrative costs but not the liabilities for claims under the policies and because the cost of calculating unearned premiums is so high, the cost of cancelling the policies is likely to exceed

the cost of running them off. The Meridian Transfer Agreement will have materially the same economic impact on the estate as a run-off, and therefore a more beneficial impact than cancellation of the policies.

- 13. The Liquidator is confident, based on the information presently available to it, that the estate of Reliance (Canada) will make full payment on all valid claims. However, for the reasons discussed more fully below, the Liquidator is not yet in a position to pay all policyholders 100%. In the view of the Liquidator, the Meridian Transfer Agreement is not prejudicial to the estate, notwithstanding that it theoretically could result in payment of 100% of their benefits to Meridian policyholders at a time when such payment is not assured to other Reliance (Canada) policyholders. The Liquidator is of the view that, given the alternatives to the Meridian Transfer Agreement, even if the claims were ultimately paid on the Meridian policies at less than 100%, the cost of administering the reduction in payments would more than offset any cost savings to the estate.
- 14. The Liquidator is recommending that this Court extend the date to which the Liquidator may make Meridian Payments to December 31, 2002, so that, should closing be delayed, there will be no interruption in payments, no further communication required to policyholders concerning the extension and no anxiety created among the Meridian policyholders.

IV. EXTENSION OF POLICY PAYMENTS AND DEFENSE COSTS PAYMENTS

- 15. As indicated above, the Liquidator has undertaken a process of seeking qualified insurers to assume all of the liability under all of the policies issued by Reliance (Canada) (other than the Meridian policies) in exchange for the transfer of assets. The Liquidator engaged Scotia Capital Inc. and KPMG Corporate Finance as co-advisors in this process. There have been expressions of interest and the co-advisors are currently working with a number of prospective purchasers in formulating a transaction which will meet the Liquidator's requirements. The U.S. Liquidator has been involved in the process as well. The Liquidator remains hopeful that an agreement will be reached in the near future. In the meantime, the Liquidator is recommending that Policy Payments and payment of Defense Costs should continue as at present until December 31, 2002 or such further date as this Court may order.
- 16. Payment of Defense Costs maintains the standards of claims adjudication, ensures the claims are properly handled and eases possible concerns of potential purchasers, as well as eliminating immediate hardship to policyholders. The Liquidator will report back to the Court

on his progress before December 31, 2002, but believes that all counsel and policyholders should have the assurance that the Defence Costs will be paid to that date, to reduce their anxiety and ensure claims are proceeding without disruption.

- 17. As indicated, the Liquidator is confident, based on the information presently available to it, that all valid claims against Reliance (Canada) will be paid in full. However, there are uncertainties. The major uncertainty is the potential that claims which were not reported in the books and records of Reliance (Canada) may be valid claims in its liquidation. These claims arise from policies written outside of Canada but which have some nexus with Canada, and which, arguably, should have been reported in the books of the branch and for which assets should have been deposited in Canada. There is no certainty as to the magnitude of such claims, given that they were never identified as being appropriately assigned to Reliance (Canada). Based on an initial review conducted by the U.S. Liquidator at the Liquidator's request, the magnitude of the claims would not prevent payment of full benefits to all policyholders with some remaining surplus available to the U.S. Liquidator, but the review was not definitive. Given this uncertainty, the Liquidator is not yet in a position to increase the level of Policy Payments. The Liquidator is of the view that the level of Policy Payments is a reasonable one in all of the circumstances, pending the result of the marketing efforts.
- 18. The Liquidator will be seeking the directions of this Court with respect to giving notice to any party who believes they have a claim properly assertable in Canada to come forward, and will then seek directions of this Court with respect to whether the claims should be allowed in the Canadian estate.
- 19. In the meantime, the Liquidator is of the view that continuing the Policy Payments and the payment of Defense Costs strikes the appropriate balance between ensuring identified policyholders and claimants are treated fairly, that the marketing process may continue, and that potential future claimants are not prejudiced.

V. RECOMMENDATIONS

- 20. The Liquidator therefore recommends that this Court make an Order:
 - (a) amending the Order of this Court dated January 30, 2002 to extend the date for Meridian Payments from April 30, 2002 to December 31, 2002 or such later date as this Court may order;

- (b) approving the Meridian Transfer Agreement; and
- (c) amending the Appointment Order to extend the date for Policy Payments and payment of Defense Costs, as provided in paragraphs 8 and 11, respectively, thereof from April 30, 2002 to December 31, 2002 or such later date as this Court may order.

ALL OF WHICH IS RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED

KPMG INC., solely in its capacity as the Liquidator of Reliance Insurance Company -

Canadian Branch

Robert O. Sanderson, President

G26\RUBENSTG\4433309.10

Commercial List Court File No. 01-CL-4313

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

COMMERCIAL LIST

IN THE MATTER OF RELIANCE INSURANCE COMPANY

AND IN THE MATTER OF THE INSURANCE COMPANIES ACT, S.C. 1991, C.47, AS AMENDED

AND IN THE MATTER OF THE WINDING-UP AND RESTRUCTURING A CT, R.S.C. 1985, C.W-1 1, AS AMENDED

BETWEEN:

THE ATTORNEY GENERAL OF CANADA

Applicant

- and -

RELIANCE INSURANCE COMPANY

Respondent

ENDORSEMENT OF THE HONOURABLE MR. JUSTICE FARLEY

Date: May 8, 2002

Further to receiving additional information arising out of the Liquidator's Report, Maritime Road Development Corporation consents to an order granting the relief requested by the Liquidator. Order to issue approving the Meridian Transfer Agreement and extending the dates for payment of Defence Costs, Policy Payments and Meridian Payments, as set out in the Liquidator's Report and further ancillary relief. I have fiatted the draft order contained at Tab 1 of the Motion Record (returnable April 29, 2002).

The Meridian Program involved Reliance issuing extended warranty coverage for motor vehicles. There are approximately 18,000 Meridian policyholders in all provinces except Quebec. The last policy expires in 2007.

The Liquidator has been engaged in a marketing process for the policies of Reliance Canada, including those issued under the Meridian Program. The Meridian Program has a limited profit potential, given that it is only a fee-generating business. The Liquidator was able to reach agreement with London Guarantee Reinsurance Company for the transfer of liabilities under the Meridian Program. Pursuant to the Meridian Transfer Agreement, London will assume

Reliance Canada's liabilities under that program, with a transfer of the underlying reinsurance for the benefit of London. London and the Liquidator made Provision for existing warranties which have not been disclosed on the records of Reliance Canada. London's exposure on these transferred liabilities are to be protected by a trust deposit and letters of credit. The Liquidator is to pay London \$975,000 and transfer various reserve and loss adjustment expense funds to it as well as reimbursing London for necessary reinsurance consulting services.

The Liquidator after analysis concluded that in the best interests of the Reliance Canada estate, the Meridian Transfer Agreement was the superior option to the other alternatives of a run-off of the policies to 2007 or a cancellation of the policies. The economic impact on the estate would be materially the same as a run-off but under the transfer arrangement, the Liquidator would not be required to continue significant ongoing administrative activities. Cancellation of the policies would generate disproportionate costs to the estate as well as significant uncertainty as to the scope of the estate's obligations to policyholders and as to its entitlement to recover premiums from the Meridian reinsurers.

The proposed transfer arrangement results in Meridian Policyholders maintaining 100% of their benefits. Although at this early stage of the liquidation it is not absolutely certain that all other policyholders will ultimately realize 100% on their claims, the Liquidator believes that will be the case. In any event, if the Meridian policies remained in the estate and were ultimately paid out at less than 100%, the cost of ministering the Meridian Program claims and the necessary reductions for payments made would more than offset savings to the estate from not doing the transfer transaction. The Liquidator is of the view that the transfer will facilitate the transfer or reinsurance of the balance of Reliance Canada's policies, and failure to do the transfer would have a negative impact on this.

- S. 162(1) of the *Winding-up and Restructuring Act* ("WRA") provides that the Liquidator may, with the approval of the Court and without the consent of the policyholders, arrange for the transfer or reinsurance of all or a portion of the policies in Canada of a foreign company, where the terms of the transfer or reinsurance are, in the opinion of the Court, having regard to the priorities set out in Part III of the WRA fair and equitable to:
 - (a) the policyholders whose policies are being transferred or reinsured;
 - (b) the estate of the company as a whole; and
 - (c) the remaining policyholders of the company.

S. 35(l)(c) and (h) confer broad powers on the Liquidator to, with the approval of the Court, to sell or otherwise deal with the assets of the company. In particular S. 35(l)(h) allows the Liquidator to do anything that may be thought expedient with reference to the assets in conjunction with a winding up of the affairs of the company. See Sutherland, Fraser & Stewart, Company Law of Canada, 6th ed. (Toronto: Carswell, 1993) at p. 860; *Re Bailey Cobalt Mines Limited* (1920), 47 O.L.R. 13 (C.A.) at p. 26.

Given the analogous situation of a sale by a court appointed officer to the present situation, it seems to me that the principles of *Royal Bank of Canada v. Soundair Corp.* (1991) 4 O.R. (3d) 1 (C.A.) would be applicable *mutatis mutandis*. The Liquidator was appointed by the Court for its experience and expertise in this field. The Court ought not to second guess its officer, absent clear cogent evidence that the officer was acting improperly. See *Soundair*;

Skyepharma pIc v. Hyal Pharmaceutical Corp. (1999), 12 C.B.R. 87 (Ont. Sup. Ct.) at p. 89, affirmed (2000), 47 O.R. (3d) 234 (C.A.). The Court should approve a proposed transfer by a Liquidator unless that officer did not exercise its discretion in a bona fide manner, or acted in a manner in which no reasonable Liquidator could act. If the Court is satisfied with the process used to market the property, its discretion pursuant to S. 35(l) of the WRA should be exercised in favour of the transaction, unless it is demonstrated that the price was improvident when the agreement was entered into. See Leon v. York-O-Matic Ltd., [1996] 3 All E.R. 277 (Ch. D.) at pp. 280-1; Northland Bank (Liquidator of) v. Kuperman, [1989] 4 W.W.R. 701 (Man. C.A.).

In the subject case, I am satisfied that the Liquidator has acted properly and prudently and that the terms of S. 162(l) have been satisfied. The Meridian Transfer Agreement is approved.

J.M. FARLEY, J

G26\RUBENSTG\4437548.1

Applicant

l

In lies been en læxe

Respondent

Court File No: 01-CL-4313

8 /2000)> Marline Road reconsolo menologe (hugue doubted) Volla Vaenueils a Verneuts, es sel vel hipridaln's Beport aux Auther aucelian hase Rater les deals vae tall 1 d. Oto Workin fleen d'ar (youar mylles)

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE COMMERCIAL LIST

Proceeding commenced at Toronto

SUPPLEMENTARY REPORT OF THE LIQUIDATOR (dated May 3, 2002)

GOODMANS LLP
Barristers & Solicitors
250 Yonge Street, Suite 2400
Toronto, Ontario M5B 2M6

Gale Rubenstein (LSUC# 17088E) Graham D. Smith (LSUC# 26377D)

Tel: (416) 979-2211 Fax: (416) 979-1234

Solicitors for KPMG Inc., Liquidator of Reliance (Canada)

Our File No.: 01.6699

Meridian proposer, the Meridian proprent has a lundo profit plantian, que les los et es artes a ter-querour bearier. The luquidaln was abled to ready agreend una handan Granantee himmana Carpary for low husnach to les chaidian dansfer Opener, handen wel aprices Reliana Canada's Lisabilities mican scal Mofan, usle à traisser d'les underlegres remmans fuller Coureful of harden, harden and cleo liprication made versus on for exciting warranties which have not been desclosed on the roraces y Keliance Comado, hardar's exposure on lesso transferred Wallelles are to be probected by a trust deposit and extert of treath. The hexidate is to pay harden \$975,000 and transfer odicals reserve and loss adjustment expecte puies to it as well as reculdensing hardan for necessary recessary de survey consider services.

The herical ceter after anolysis concluded

that the helidam hundre agreened was the
superior option to the after affermances of

a rundf of the policies to zoo 7 or a conceded of the philes. The economic impud on the whole Chirmed as malerially the saw as a nun of but men the transfer dranquet, le hépielate would not be required to ecutione significant onformy columnstraten acleerhee. Canalamus) Le pluses wered quelate disproposhonale Osts to les estell as arll as significant unailany 60 to the scope of the estales abliqueices to pluy their "... It me la its entitlement to recoreer premines from

Mericleau solveyleddie i mace treming 10090 of Leen bedrefilm allhanger at their den Cey Stafe of Le apridaleer it is not alemberles certain that all other policyled dui will alkewalter reality 100% on their claves, the hequidates believes that well be the case. In any ever, of the allidean placer remanuel in the estate and were ultimaley said attel as less lace 100 0, the cost of admissery her mudicin program claves and the mekessey reductives for paguetts made vored more than offset Soerus to le estate peu not day the transfer treus actice. The heguedates is of the tree that Her trausprail faulitate the transfer or reunique of the balance of Peliceno Conada's pluies, Cul fabrico to do The transfer arreld have a reguties august an

S.162(1) of the leunding-up and Restruction y Cech (WRA") provides lacet flee he fraction nice, with the approximas I the land and will as the causeuf of the phyliddees, assures for the

transfer or remember of all or a portru of the policiels in auceda of a pregn Coupail, where the Leves of the Excesses a remogrance, are, a the opinion of less Coul, having regul to the priviles set out in Part II of the WRA fair and equilable to: (a) Her policy holder whose policies are bely transferred or removed. (b) the estate of the caryace as a whole; and (1) Heremany pluy wholes of the (dupay S. 35(1Xc) and th) unfor broad purcers on the hyridates to, will les approval of the roul & sell or ochewers about with the cossets If the courses. In particular 5. 35 (1) (h) allows Her beguite color to do anything wheels many co Sharful expediced will reference so the affets a curreller with a usucley up of Huaffeur of the caryay. See Sullerkert, Frances I Steward, Caupany thee of Beroda, 6 the so (Toruto: Carswell, 1993) at p. 860; Re Builey Collect knies Lund (1920), 47 OCR B(CA) M p.26. (a On her a contramented offices to the present

I silualeur, it seems la nie lacet les purinques A loyal buile of Beccodo V Serrucleen (corp. (1991), 4 OR (30) (6A) worred to applicable mutates mustandes. The hypicalor was appointed Cies Sul Cout for its experience and expertise in this fillo. Wei Court ought not to sexued quess its offices, alesent clear coscert evidence That he officer was acten ungriogerly. Sel Soundain; Shyepharma ple i Hyal Phomacentra (op (1949), 12 (BK 87 (ont Sup. (4) alp. 89, affenso (2000), 47 OR (30) 234 (A). The Euch should approved a proposed transfer ley a liquidates unless hal officer ded not exercise its discelled in a bara fill maner, or acked in a manner mulich no reasonable lipuidates rouecl act. If the cour is selepped in the the mocks used to make the property, its ascellen puriant to 5.35(1) of the alk Shauld be excesused in favere of the transaction, uncent it its demanstrated fattle mice was my norizent when the agreenell was en twell wito. Les hour york make Ltd [1996] 3 All CR 277 (ChD) at pp 280. North land Baul (he pulled of) V Kuper mon [196 194]
WWK. 701 (Man (A))

In the Suleyed case, I am Sulesfood that the begins latte ken

when mander mich hunden ser much that the sewed 5. 162 (1) have been Sulesfood

- COMMERCIAL LIST ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

Court File No: 01-CL-4313

Proceeding commenced at TORONTO

(returnable December 6, 2002)

GOODMANS LLP Barristers & Solicitors 250 Yonge Street, Suite 2400 Toronto, Ontario MSB 2M6

Gale Rubenstein (LSUC# 17088E) Tel: (416) 979-2211 Fax: (416) 979-1234

Solicitors for KPMG Inc., Liquidator of Reliance (Canada)

G56//4463535.1

G26/\4436535.1